1996

# Lynn Vincent Toone v. Ruby Joan Toone nka Ruby Joan Parkhurst : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL AUTHORITY

Jurisdiction to hear the above-entitled appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-2(h) (1953 as amended).

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from an order granting Mr. Toone's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Mrs. Parkhurst's Cross Motion for

Summary Judgment regarding Mrs. Parkhurst's Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce or Partition the Military Retirement benefits. The order was entered by the Honorable Judge Gordon J. Low of the First Judicial District Court, Cache County, State of Utah, sitting without a jury and hearing the case as a case of first impression in Utah regarding the effects of McCarty.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in alluding that the military retirement benefits had been silently adjudicated to Mr. Toone when in reality the Decree of Divorce did not mention the military retirement benefits; both parties stipulated that the military retirement benefits had not been specifically or expressly divided; McCarty forbade state courts from dividing or offsetting military retirement in the divorce as a matter of law; and when USFSPA overturned McCarty each former spouse became tenants-in-common to the retirement until a formal division occurs?

2. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in concluding that the doctrine of res judicata was appropriate in this case where the evidence indicated that the military retirement benefits were not specifically mentioned in the Decree of Divorce, the trial court had retained exclusive jurisdiction under the original Decree as well as the Supplemental Decree to revise other property matters under the Decree of Divorce, and USFSPA specifically allows retroactive modification of divorces such as this one entered after June 25, 1981?

3. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in concluding that the eight year statute of limitation barred Mrs. Parkhurst's Petition to Modify where no ouster of the cotenants occurred; where her partition action is an equitable remedy governed by the equitable doctrine of laches and not the statute of limitation; where USFSPA specifically granted retroactive treatment to reopen decrees entered after June 25, 1981; where the original Decree retained jurisdiction and the Supplemental Decree of Divorce was not entered until December 16, 1983 and specifically reserved the right to either party to file a motion to divide the marital property after December 16, 1988; and where the parties became tenants-in-common to the military retirement benefits under USFSPA, creating a new claim and a substantial change in circumstances governed by the courts continuing jurisdiction under U.C.A. § 30-3-5 (1995).

4. Did the trial court err by concluding that as a matter of equity that Mrs. Parkhurst's filing of the partition action fourteen (14) years after entry of the first Decree of Divorce was late and untimely where the lower court specifically ruled that neither laches nor estoppel could bar Mrs. Parkhurst's claim; where the retirement had not been withdrawn and would not be disbursed until May 3, 1998; and where, under the lower court's decision, Mr. Toone would receive one hundred percent (100%) of the retirement benefits, when the trial court obviously intended each party to receive fifty percent (50%) of the marital estate?

5. Did the trial court err by relying on the Throckmorton case where Throckmorton involves a divorce in 1978 (not after June 25, 1981); is not a military retirement case; where Woodward, could be applied to this divorce since judgment was entered after Woodward; and the facts make it totally distinguishable?

6. Did the trial court err as a matter of law in denying Mrs. Parkhurst's Cross Motion for Summary Judgment to divide the military benefits when legal precedent in a majority of jurisdictions permits division of military retirement post-divorce?

#### DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS, CASES, STATUTES AND RULES

The Uniform Services Former Spouses Protection Act (USFSPA) which is codified under 10 U.S.C. § 1408(c)(1) (1990 as amended) along with U.C.A. § 30-3-5(1)&(3) (1995) may be determinative of the outcome of this appeal. Also the cases cited by Appellant in this Brief may be determinative of the outcome in this appeal, particularly since the majority of those cases hold that military retirement benefits can be divided post-divorce where the divorce was entered after June 25, 1981.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in this appeal as to the issue presented on appeal is a "correctness standard" in reviewing the trial court's Conclusions of Law in the application of legal principles such as res judicata, statute of limitations, and the substantial change in circumstances test in denying Mrs.

Parkhurst's request where the review pays no deference to trial courts holding. See State Farm Fire Casualty Co. v. Greary, 869 P.2d 952, 1954 (Ut. App. 1994); State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 936 (Utah 1994). The other standard of review is whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting Mr. Toone's Motion for Summary Judgment based solely on the affidavits before it, under principles of equity (such as partition, laches and estoppel), since the affidavits do not reveal harm to Mr. Toone or unreasonable delay by Mrs. Parkhurst and the trial court's decision was so unreasonable in this area that it was arbitrary, capricious and a clear abuse of discretion. See Gillmor v. Wright, 850 P.2d 431, 434-36 (Utah 1993).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal is from an Order granting Mr. Toone's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Mrs. Parkhurst's Cross Motion for Summary Judgment. The Order was entered on September 25, 1996 in the First Judicial District Court in and for Cache County, Utah, by the Honorable Judge Gordon J. Low. (R.O.A. 239) (Exhibit "E" attached hereto).

The Order stemmed from the following procedural facts: Lynn Vincent Toone and Ruby Joan Toone were married on June 20, 1958 in Manti, Utah. (R.O.A. 239) Mr. Toone began creditable time for service in the Navy by working from March 1958 to the end of 1979 which qualified him for full vesting of twenty (20) years of military service, some ten (10) years active duty and some eleven



(11) years in the Naval Reserve. (R.O.A. 240) During all of Mr. Toone's creditable time of military service the parties had been married a total of twenty-three years [over ten (10) years as required by 10 U.S.C. § 1408]. (R.O.A. 239-240) Mrs. Toone (nka Parkhurst) supported Mr. Toone and made it possible for him to qualify for this retirement. (R.O.A. 141-43) On June 25, 1981, the U.S. Supreme Court in McCarty v. McCarty, 453 U.S. 210 (1981), ruled that federal law preempted the application of state marital property concepts to military retirement benefits and disallowed state court authority to divide military retirement benefits in a divorce. When Mr. Toone filed a Verified Complaint for Divorce on or about June 22, 1981 (R.O.A. 1) and Mrs. Toone filed an Answer and Counterclaim on or about June 29, 1981, (R.O.A. 4), the McCarty decision did not permit marital division of military retirement by a state court. The parties agreed to bifurcate the divorce proceedings and permit Mr. Toone a divorce so he could remarry. (R.O.A. 18) The trial court granted Mr. Toone a bifurcated divorce on July 23, 1981 and retained specific jurisdiction to divide all other marital property at a later date. (R.O.A. 18) (See Exhibit "A" paragraph 2).

On July 9, 1982, the trial court held a trial on all other reserved issues (except for the naval retirement) and made Findings and an Order and asked Mr. Toone's attorney, Arden Lauritzen, to prepare the final papers and to present the same for the judge's signature. (R.O.A. 29-30) (Also see Exhibit "B" Trial Transcript). On September 2, 1983, Mr. Toone filed a motion for Further

Proceedings and to correct exhibits prior to submitting the Findings and Order to the court for signature. (R.O.A. 31) The court denied this request. (R.O.A. 38) Mr. Toone's attorney took so long to file the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce, that Mrs. Parkhurst's attorney finally prepared the Findings and submitted Supplemental Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law together with a Supplemental Judgment and Decree which were signed and dated December 14, 1983. (R.O.A. at 41 & 59) Corrected Supplemental Findings and Judgment and Decree were entered on December 16, 1983. (R.O.A. at 50 & 68) (See Exhibit "C" for Corrected Supplemental Judgment and Decree).

The trial court specifically ruled in paragraph 6 of the Corrected Supplemental Judgment and Decree (hereafter "Decree") that Mr. Toone's Utah State nonmilitary retirement was worth approximately \$10,000.00 and Mrs. Parkhurst's Utah State retirement was worth about \$3,000.00. (R.O.A. 70 & 181 to 185) (See also Exhibit "C" paragraph 6). The court offset these two (2) civil retirements one against the other leaving \$7,000.00, which it divided equally between the parties by granting \$3,500.00 to Mrs. Parkhurst. (R.O.A. 70) The affidavits, subsequent exhibits and Findings and Decree show that the court dealt only with the civil retirements of the parties and that the "navy" retirement was never mentioned and was totally omitted from the trial court evidence as well as the Findings and Decree. (R.O.A. 125, Exhibit "C" paragraph 10 of Decree).

In paragraph 4 of the Corrected Decree, the court retained jurisdiction for a period of five (5) years at the expiration of which time either party could file a motion with the court to revise the due date on Mrs. Parkhurst's equitable lien against the home which the court was allowing Mr. Toone to pay over a period of twenty (20) years and also reserved jurisdiction to revise any other property matters. (R.O.A. 70) Mr. Toone filed an objection requiring the trial court to make sure either party could file motions after the five (5) years expired. (R.O.A. 78) The trial court interlineated in paragraph 4 of the Decree, the change which allowed motions to be filed after the five (5) years ended in December of 1988. (R.O.A. 70) (Exhibit "C" paragraph 4; Exhibit "B" page 7).

Mrs. Parkhurst filed a Petition to Modify the Decree of Divorce on or about October 23, 1995 to receive her one-half (½) share of the naval retirement. (R.O.A. 106) Mr. Toone filed an Answer on November 1, 1995. (R.O.A. 110) Mr. Toone then filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on January 18, 1996 (R.O.A. 115), and Mrs. Parkhurst filed a Cross Motion for Summary Judgment on or about February 1, 1996. (R.O.A. 144) The only sworn testimony is contained in Mr. Toone's affidavit (R.O.A. 124-125) and Mrs. Parkhurst's affidavits (R.O.A. 139 to 143). The court entered a Memorandum Decision (R.O.A. 226, Exhibit "D") and Amended Order (R.O.A. 239, Exhibit "E"), based on the parties Motions, denying Mrs. Parkhurst's request to divide the naval retirement on

September 25, 1996. Mrs. Parkhurst filed a Notice of Appeal on October 15, 1996. (R.O.A. 246)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

For purposes of the Motion for Summary Judgment, as well as this appeal, both parties admit that the naval retirement benefits were not specifically divided in the trial court's Decree of Divorce. Moreover, no oral discussion took place during trial or written mention of military retirement benefits were made in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (See Affidavit of Lynn Toone, paragraph 6 which states "The Decree of Divorce does not specify an allocation of military retirement benefits between the parties.") (R.O.A. 125 and affidavit of Joan Parkhurst, page 2 R.O.A. 142; Exhibit "B", page 5, Exhibit "C" paragraph 10).

Both parties admit for purposes of this appeal that the only retirements mentioned in the Decree of Divorce are Mr. Toone's retirement of \$10,000.00 from Utah State Retirement System and Mrs. Parkhurst's retirement of \$3,000.00 at Utah State University. (R.O.A. 175 to 185). The parties admit for purposes of this appeal that only two (2) civil retirements were discussed in the court's evidence and Findings.

Both parties acknowledge that the military retirement benefits have not been withdrawn by Mr. Toone and he will not start to receive those benefits until his 60th birthday on May 3, 1998. (Affidavit of Lynn Toone (R.O.A. 125) and facts presented in

paragraph 6 of Plaintiff's Response to Mrs. Parkhurst's Request for Reconsideration R.O.A. 208, paragraph 6).

Both parties also acknowledge that Mrs. Parkhurst was married to Mr. Toone for twenty-three (23) years, that Mr. Toone worked for the military retirement benefits for more than twenty years and that those military retirement benefits were earned entirely during the marriage (except for 2 or 3 months in 1958). (R.O.A. 208, paragraph 6)

Both parties stipulate that Mrs. Parkhurst was awarded only \$1.00 per month as alimony in the Decree of Divorce and that no alimony has been paid by Mr. Toone to Mrs. Parkhurst. (R.O.A. 70)

The parties basic disputed facts are over why Mrs. Parkhurst waited so long to bring the action to divide the naval retirement benefits. Mr. Toone also contends that the naval retirement was silently adjudicated by the trial court and awarded to Mr. Toone by default although no written evidence supports this claim and Mrs. Parkhurst flatly denies this claim.

The lower court ruled that estoppel and laches were not a bar to Mrs. Parkhurst's claim since no harm has occurred to Mr. Toone by Mrs. Parkhurst's action or inaction. (See Amended Order granting Summary Judgment, page 4 paragraph 3, Exhibit "E", R.O.A. 243). It was undisputed that Mrs. Parkhurst did not learn of USFSPA until 1995 and that she acted reasonably thereafter. (R.O.A. 232). The lower court also agreed that if Mrs. Parkhurst had brought her action earlier (i.e., within the eight-year statute of limitation) that Mrs. Parkhurst may have had a legitimate claim if

she could avoid the principle of res judicata. (R.O.A. paragraph 1, 193; 226-227) The main focus of the lower court was on the length of time which had passed since the divorce order and on the doctrine of res judicata. (R.O.A. 226 to 239)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issues presently before this Court are of first impression in this state. The main issue is whether military retirement, expressly omitted from the Findings and Decree in a divorce decided after June 25, 1981, can now be divided pursuant to USFSPA and state law.

Mrs. Parkhurst's Brief will show the Court that Utah law, prior to McCarty, allowed for the equitable division of pension rights, retirement benefits, annuities and military retirement benefits. But for McCarty, Utah case law would have permitted an equitable division of the current military retirement before the Court. The lower court agreed. (R.O.A. 233) However, because of McCarty, the trial court could not consider, offset, or divide the military retirement. As a matter of law, the military retirement was not adjudicated nor could it have been adjudicated. Upon this issue the trial court erred. The trial transcript, Findings and Decree all indicate that the marital property, including the civil retirements, were divided 50/50 and no mention or reference was made to the military retirement. Res judicata does not bar Mrs. Parkhurst from seeking a division of the military retirement benefits. There are several cases which have decided that issue

and which hold that because McCarty forbade the division of military retirement benefits by state courts and further forbade any adjustment in the award of other community property to counter-balance or offset the loss of these benefits that res judicata cannot apply.

Partition actions to divide military retirement benefits have been allowed in post McCarty divorce decrees which did not expressly award the military retirement benefits to the service member. Omission of certain property from a decree of divorce does not affect the divorce's finality. It merely means that the omitted property is to be held by the former spouses as tenants in common since it was not formally divided by the court. Partition is and has always been available as a means of dividing property not formally divided upon divorce.

Only if the divorce court had specifically adjudicated or expressly stated in the decree a division of the retirement benefits would res judicata bar a subsequent suit for partition of the military retirement benefits in this case. The judgment is res judicata only to present and not future conditions. Because the enactment of USFSPA created a new fact and a change in the law, a new cause of action arose. This was a future condition to which res judicata does not apply.

Nor can Mrs. Parkhurst's claim be denied because of the statute of limitations. The statute of limitation defense is not applicable for several reasons.

First, this is a partition action against military benefits which were omitted from the Decree. Because USFSPA overturned the McCarty decision, the retirement benefits here reverted to the parties as tenants in common for which no disposition was made, thus giving the partitioners the right to divide this property at any time. The trial court erroneously thought it stayed in Mr. Toone's ownership only.

For the statute of limitations to begin to run in a partition action, there must first be an ouster of one tenant against the other. Neither party had been ousted by court order to this federal benefit, which arguably can only be divided by a court ruling. Since there was no ouster and no division of the property, each party remained in possession of their rights to the military benefits until someone began an action to do otherwise. The trial court erroneously held the limitations began to run on December 16, 1983 or February 1, 1983.

Second, the statute of limitation is a legal defense used against legal remedies. Divorce courts and partition actions are equitable remedies and it was inappropriate for the court to use the legal defense of a eight-year statute of limitation to bar Mrs. Parkhurst's claim as mentioned in the above paragraph. Mr. Toone could only assert the defense of laches in this case. Laches is not appropriate in this case as will be shown below and the trial court acknowledged this.

Third, provisions of USFSPA specifically allow parties retroactive benefits in divorce cases that happen after June 25,



1981 particularly when there is a specific reservation, as in this case, for a later property division. The Decree of Divorce also reserved jurisdiction to permit later property divisions which reservations preclude the use of the statute of limitations to bar this claim.

Lastly, the court has continuing jurisdiction under U.C.A. § 30-3-5 on new issues to make new orders. There is no statute of limitations for such continuing jurisdiction. A substantial change in circumstances allows reopening of the Decree. The enactment of USFSPA and Woodward, both created a substantial change in circumstances when other facts are considered herein.

For the defense of laches to apply, there must be a lack of diligence on the part of Mrs. Parkhurst and resulting injury to Mr. Toone. Equity does not encourage laches, and the doctrine may not be invoked to defeat justice but only to prevent injustice. The equitable defense of laches would only be available to prevent unfairness to a spouse who may have spent the money in reliance on the judgment. However, that is not the case here since the money has not yet been received by either party and will not be received until 1998. Furthermore, knowledge of the enactment of USFSPA, may not be imputed to Mrs. Parkhurst. That is a "new fact" that cannot be imputed. It created new evidence to divide retirement. Upon this issue the trial court erred. Rather, the delay must be unreasonable under the circumstances, including the party's actual subjective knowledge of her right, and it must be shown that any change in the circumstances caused by the delay has resulted in

prejudice to Mr. Toone sufficient to justify denial of relief. Courts have held that the critical date upon which to base laches or statute of limitations is when the wife first gained actual knowledge of her rights under USFSPA. Mrs. Parkhurst, after learning about her rights under USFSPA, acted timely and filed her Petition. When one considers the evidence in the light most favorable to Mrs. Parkhurst, the trial court abused its discretion in holding against her.

Utah case law prior to the McCarty Decision made it clear that the general rule as established in Englert v. Englert, 576 P.2d 1274 (Utah 1978) was that the trial court's duty is to make an equitable division of property in a divorce action which "encompasses all of the assets of every nature possessed by the parties, whenever obtained and from whatever source derived; and that this includes any such pension fund or insurance." Id. at 1276.

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