1996

Lynn Vincent Toone v. Roby Joan Toone : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

POINT 1

Appellant claims that the Trial Court erred in concluding that the doctrine of Res Judicata barred the Appellant’s claim. Appellee contends that Appellant had knowledge of the existence of the military retirement and should have been aware of the Federal Statute, made retroactive to a date PRIOR TO the dates of the trial and signing of the

Judgement and Decree. In addition, the Judgement and Decree only states a retirement of \$10,000. Without a transcript of the Trial Court, it is impossible to tell whether or not the Trial Court considered the military retirement.

POINT II

Appellant claims that the ^{Navy}“(sic) retirement” can now be divided 12 years after the entry of the Decree allocating the parties property interests. Appellee answers stating that the right to partition military retirement is a statutory right under Uniform Services Former Spouses Protection Act. There is an eight year Statute of Limitations. Appellant’s claim is barred.

POINT III

Defendant claims laches cannot be a defense in this case because the Trial Court so held and no harm has occurred to Mr. Toone. Appellee disagrees with the Trial Court and Mrs. Parkhurst. There has been a 12 to 13 year delay in enforcing a statutory right by Mrs. Parkhurst. The parties and the Trial Court are without the benefit of the former Trial Court’s record and the assets of the parties have been divided. Mrs. Parkhurst knew of the military retirement from the outset of the case, during the trials and lengthy delays. She knew or should have know of her rights under the Uniform Services Former Spouse Protection Act. Mr. Toone relied upon the military retirement to plan his own retirement.

POINT IV

Mrs. Parkhurst claims that the Trial Court erred in holding that there was no change in circumstances when the Congress passed the Uniform Services Former Spouse Protection Act. Congress passed the USFSPA in 1982, effective February 1, 1983, and

made it retroactive to June 25, 1981. Mrs. Parkhurst could have and should have and may have litigated her rights under the Act at the time of the divorce. Woodward vs. Woodward was decided during the pendency of this case. There was no change in circumstances between the parties by the passage of the Act, only a right of action created by Federal Statute.

POINT V

Mrs. Parkhurst claims that the Supreme Court decision in McCarty barred her from litigating her right to the “(sic) retirement”. The facts of the case show that the McCarty decision was decided June 26, 1981. The parties were divorced on July 23, 1981, but the Court reserved its ruling for the division of property until a year later on July 9, 1982. The Findings and Decree were ultimately signed on December 16, 1983, about 18 months later. Congress passed the USFSPA on September 8, 1982. The effective date of the Act was February 1, 1983. However, Subsection (c)(1) contained a retroactive date to June 25, 1981. The time frame shows that Mrs. Parkhurst was not barred from asserting her rights. The lack of a record of the Trial and later proceedings leaves open to speculation the retirement actually considered by the Trial Court. The Trial Court in 1996 acknowledged the speculative nature of Mrs. Parkhurst’s argument (R-226).

POINT VI

Mrs. Parkhurst claims that the Trial Court erred when it did not divide the retirement benefits as all other property was divided on an equal basis. Mr. Toone responds by noting that the original Trial Court did not define the source of the retirement

benefits, and therefore, there is no evidence that the military benefits were or were not included in the \$10,000 lump sum figure used by the Court to calculate approximately the equal division of property. Mrs. Parkhurst's continual use of the phrase "civil retirement" does not alter the lack of specifics in the original Decree.

DETAILED ARGUMENTS

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT THE PRINCIPLE OF "RES JUDICATA" BARRED APPELLANT'S CLAIM TO A DIVISION OF THE NAVY RETIREMENT WHERE THE NAVAL (sic) RETIREMENT WAS NOT EXPRESSLY ADJUDICATED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

The Appellant/Mrs. Parkhurst litigated the issues in her divorce from April of 1981 until December of 1983. During this period of time, the U.S. Supreme Court, on June 26, 1981, held that military retirement pay was not divisible by State Courts. Congress reacted and passed the Former Spouse Protection Act, making it retroactive to June 25, 1981. The Supreme Court of this State decided *Woodward vs. Woodward*, infra. The knowledge of these decisions are imputed to the Appellant. Further compounding the situation is the lack of a transcript from the original Trial Court and Findings of Fact and a Judgement, which are silent as to the source of the \$10,000 retirement owned by Mr. Toone.

The Trial Court Memorandum Decision (R-226) recognizes that 13 years have lapsed since the Judgement of the initial Trial Court.

In this case, certainly the value of the military retirement could have and may have been considered by the Court..... If the Court did not then address the issue with respect to military retirement, and should do so now, it would have to relitigate each of those other property and support issues which have been raised, litigated and ruled upon. In doing so, the rule of Res Judicata would be avoided. Page 2,

Memorandum Decision, September 10, 1996.

The Supreme Court decision of McCarty vs. McCarty did not prevent the litigation of this issue. Mrs. Parkhurst knew of the military retirement and could have litigated the matter. She, in fact, may have litigated the issue. The transcript is not available. In Throckmorton vs. Throckmorton, 767 P.2d 121 (Utah App 1988), this Court determined that subsequent recognition of retirement benefits is not a substantial change in circumstances, thus precluding the application of Res Judicata. The Court recognized that principle, noting that the Trial Court has continuing jurisdiction to make subsequent changes to property distribution, but that Courts are hesitant to disturb prior property distributions.

However, the application of Res Judicata is unique in divorce actions because of the equitable doctrine which allows Courts to reopen alimony, support or property distributions if the moving party can demonstrate a substantial change in circumstances, since the matter was previously considered by the Court, Thompson vs. Thompson, 709 P.2d 360 (Utah 1985).

The Texas cases cited by the Appellant are not pertinent unless this Court overturns

Throckmorton v. Throckmorton, *infra*.

POINT II

APPELLANT CLAIMS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN APPLYING THE EIGHT YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATION TO BAR APPELLANT'S CLAIM FOR A DIVISION OF MILITARY RETIREMENT.

A. Neither this Court nor the Supreme Court of this State has held that former spouses are tenant in common of retirement funds, which is contrary to the assertion in the Appellant's Brief. UCA 30-3-5 grants Courts jurisdiction to make orders in relation to property. Mr. Toone's military retirement is in his name alone. Woodward determines

that an asset accrued during marriage is subject to equitable distribution and not tenants in common ownership, (Woodward vs. Woodward, 656 P.2d 431 at page 433). This retirement could have been or was distributed.

The cases of Iverson vs. Iverson, 526 P.2d 1126 (Utah 1974) and Booth vs. Booth, 722 P.2d 771 (Utah 1986) do not stand for the proposition suggested by Appellant, as they deal with joint tenant ownership of real property. Nor does Massey vs. Protagro, 664 P.2d 1176 (Utah 1983) apply, as it deals with tax titles.

B. The Appellant claims the Statute of Limitations does not apply in this equitable action. The Appellant's right to divide military retirement is governed by statutory law. The USFSPA created the right, which is a legal remedy. Utah's Divorce Law requires an equitable distribution. Therefore, the Trial Courts are obligated to equitably distribute those assets divisible by statute. The Judgement in this case dated December 16, 1983, is a Decree. The Petition case dated October 23, 1995, in this case seeks to modify the Corrected Supplemental Divorce Decree. Eight years has expired since the rendition of the Judgement, UCA 78-12-1, 78-12-22.

C. The Appellant claims that the Statute of Limitations is not applicable because Congress made the USFSPA retroactive to a day before the McCarty decision. The retroactive provision of the Act provided the Appellant an opportunity to fully and completely litigate her claim for military retirement. The effective date of the statute was June 26, 1981, and the Decree was signed on December 16, 1983. The record shows no attempt to alter the general terms of the Decree to specify the type of retirement considered.

D. Appellant claims that a reservation by the Trial Court of jurisdiction tolls the Statute of Limitations. This argument is made without citation of statute or cases. Throckmorton, infra, provides an answer. The reservation of continuing jurisdiction found in the Statute (30-3-5 UCA) and as recited in the decree does not toll the Statute. A substantial change in circumstances, giving rise to a new claim for relief is not barred by Res Judicata. Where an issue was or could have been litigated and wasn't, under Throckmorton Res Judicata applies. If there is or could have been a judgment, and a judgement is prepared, that commences the running of the Statute of Limitations.

E. Defendant/Appellant claims that the Court has continuing jurisdiction to review property matters under UCA 30-3-5.

Not so. If that were the case, there would never be an end to divorce litigation, (rarely is there an end now). Again, Mr. Toone reiterates that the "retirement" was not designated. This Court has no transcript. UCA 30-3-5 does not allow a subsequent Court to arbitrarily relitigate the issue without a substantial change in circumstances, Iverson vs. Iverson, 526 P.2d 1126.

Notwithstanding the equitable powers of the District Court in inter-family controversies in divorce matters and the acknowledged broad latitude of discretion allowed therein, the Court cannot act arbitrarily, or on supposition or conjecture as to facts upon which to justify its order.

In the absence of any proceeding in which evidence was taken relating to the equities of the parties; and in the absence of a transcript of any evidence of that character, we do not see in this record any justification for the granting of a Motion for Summary Judgement...

Rule 60 allows amendment of "clerical errors" not substantive matters.

POINT III

APPELLANT CLAIMS THAT LACHES CANNOT BE A DEFENSE IN THE CASE BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT SO HELD AND NOT HARM HAS OCCURRED TO MR. TOONE.

It should be noted that this Court is not bound by an erroneous ruling of law of the Trial Court. See Standard of Review, Page 4, Appellant's Brief.

Laches may, in fact, be the appropriate legal and equitable doctrine in this case. Laches required that there be an unreasonable delay in bringing the action. In this case, there is at least a 13 year delay. That delay has not only faded the memories of the parties but occasioned usage of attorneys not privy to the initial proceedings. No transcript is available to determine what, in fact, the Court considered as "retirement". The nonspecific Decree, drawn by Appellant's attorney complicates determination of "retirement". Therefore, the Appellant's delay has been unreasonable and has deprived both parties of needed recollection and evidence.

The second prong in the test for laches is that the Plaintiff/Appellee has been prejudiced by the delay. The Trial Court recognized the problem when it stated in the Memorandum Decision that if the Court litigated the issue of retirement, it may have to modify all other property matters that were considered by the Court. It can be reasonably assumed that Mr. Toone relied on the Judgement and Decree for the past 13 years in planning his future. His Utah State Retirement was cashed in to pay Mrs. Parkhurst her equity in the home. To now divide military retirement would be a substantial burden on him. Nothing in the record reveals a need on Appellant's part for the retirement money.

Appellant cites the case of *Openshaw vs Openshaw*, 144 P.2d 528 (Utah 1943) for the proposition that laches cannot be imputed to one who is ignorant of the facts and for

that reason, failed to assert her rights. An additional citation from that case might be beneficial.

Page 531. But mere inaction or delay, short of the period of limitations, in enforcement of payment of an obligation already accrued, without more, is insufficient upon which to predicate laches.

Sheppard's Utah Citations reflects many cases decided after Openshaw, but none overruling the case law established. Therefore, Appellant having taken no action within the period of limitations under the Openshaw decision, the doctrine of laches should apply.

Appellant contends that laches does not apply to retirement benefits received prospectively because there is not prejudice to the serviceman. Thereafter, the Appellant cites two Arizona cases, Beltran vs. Razo, 788 P.2d 1256 (Ariz App. 1990) and Flynn vs. Rogers, 834 P.2d 148 (Ariz 1992). At the expense of sounding over simplistic, these cases are not relevant. First, they are from a neighbor state that is a community property state. Arizona has a statute which creates a tenancy in common in retirement assets, A.R.S. Section 25-318 (B). Utah has no similar statute. Second, the case was brought within the period of limitations. The serviceman/husband claimed laches. The argument was rejected by the Arizona Court. Under Arizona law, the military benefits were, after USFSPA held by the parties as tenants in common, and therefore, the division by the Court was merely procedural.

Utah does not have a statute similar to the Arizona statute making the parties tenants in common. Utah Courts have not held that the parties are tenants in common. Such a ruling is inconsistent with present common law principles in Utah. Appellant

mixes common law principles and community property law principles. Such a mix is necessary for the Appellant to rationalize the result suggested.

POINT IV

APPELLANT CLAIMS THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING NO CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES OCCURRED JUSTIFYING REOPENING THE DECREE.

Appellant claims that the enactment of the USFSPA created a change in circumstances. Throckmorton, infra, sets forth the distinction between a change in circumstances as it relates to factual circumstances. This is distinguished from a change in legal precedent or statute which Throckmorton, infra, held not to be a substantial change in circumstances.

Legal recognition of a new category of property rights after a divorce decree has been entered is not itself sufficient to establish a substantial change in circumstances (at page 124).

McCarty may have changed Utah Law for a brief period of time, but the enactment of the USFSPA nullified the decision. The Decree allocating property rights in this case was signed after enactment of the USFSPA without objection by Appellant. Appellant continues to miscite the date of the entry of the property settlement. Entry of a divorce without more is not a final decree and that date has no relevance. Copier vs. Copier, 318 Ut. Adv. Rep. 9 states that the date of the final decree is the date concluding the divorce. Therefore, the pertinent date in this case is December 16, 1983.

POINT V

APPELLANT CLAIMS THAT MILITARY RETIREMENT EARNED DURING THE MARRIAGE IS CONSIDERED MARITAL PROPERTY UNDER UTAH LAW AND CAPABLE OF DIVISION WERE IT NOT FOR THE McCarthy DECISION.

The reply to this issue is found in the facts. McCarthy was decided on June 26,

1981. The parties were divorced in July of 1981. The Trial Court decided only the issue of the divorce and left until a future date the issues of property settlement. The case lingered on, and one year later in July of 1982, a hearing was held dividing the real and personal property. In November, the Supreme Court decided Woodward, infra. In September of that year, Congress passed the USFSPA with an effective date of February 1, 1993. The ruling in McCarthy was effectively voided by the retroactive provision. This case still languished in the Utah Court System until December of 1983 when Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and a Decree were presented to the District Judge. No party before or after entry of the Decree filed a Motion to Amend the Findings specifying which retirements the Trial Court referenced, nor did either party cite Woodward or the USFSPA as dictating a clarification of the Findings and Decree.

Appellee has no quarrel with the proposition that military retirement is a marital asset and that the retirement is capable of division. The plain and simple fact is that Appellant knew of the military retirement and had an opportunity to litigate retirement and did so in such nonspecific terms that the Trial Court now is unable to make a decision without readjudicating the entire case in the absence of a transcript. Appellant's attorney drew the Findings and Decree, and the same law firm now seeks a second hearing 13 years later to litigate military retirement separately from the prior division of assets. Appellant is barred not only by laches, but by the Statute of Limitations.

POINT VI

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